
 
 
        

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 

 
STEVEN OLUIC, PH.D.    ) CASE NO. 
10339 SAWMILL DR    )  
CHARDON, OH 44024    ) JUDGE 
      ) 
  Plaintiff   ) 

) COMPLAINT FOR MONEY DAMAGES 
 v.     )  
      ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
LAKELAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE  ) 
7700 CLOCKTOWER DR.   ) 
KIRTLAND, OHIO 44094   ) 
      ) 
And      ) 
      ) 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF   ) 
LAKELAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE  ) 
7700 CLOCKTOWER DR.   ) 
KIRTLAND, OHIO 44094   )       
      )  
  Defendants.    )  
             
 Now comes Plaintiff, Steven Oluic, Ph.D. (“Oluic”), by and through counsel, and for his 

complaint against Defendants Lakeland Community College and Board of Trustees of Lakeland 

Community College (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Lakeland”), avers and states as 

follows: 

PARTIES 
 

1. During all times relevant hereto, Oluic was a resident of the State of Ohio and was 

employed with Lakeland at a location where it did business in Lake County, Ohio.  During all 

times relevant hereto, Oluic was an “employee” within the meaning of the Ohio Civil Rights Act 

Case: 1:20-cv-00016-SL  Doc #: 1  Filed:  01/06/20  1 of 13.  PageID #: 1



 2 

(“OCRA”), R.C. 4112.01(A)(3), and the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. §1201, 

et seq.  At all relevant times, Oluic was disabled as defined in those laws. 

2. Lakeland Community College is a community college organized under R.C. 3354.01 et. 

seq. Both it and the Board of Trustees of Lakeland Community College are political subdivisions 

of the State of Ohio that exist under the laws of the State of Ohio and regularly conduct 

business and engage in other persistent courses of conduct in Lake County, Ohio.  Both entities 

employed Oluic and were his “employer” under the OCRA and ADA. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Honorable Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331, as this action involves federal questions and issues regarding Lakeland’s violation 

of the ADA.  This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Oluic’s related claims arising under 

Ohio law pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367(a).   

4. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Lakeland because it is organized in this federal 

district and has a substantial and persistent presence here. 

5.  Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)(1) and (2) because 

Lakeland is located in this district under 28 U.S.C. §1391(c)(2), and a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to this action, including Lakeland’s unlawful employment 

practices, alleged herein, occurred in this district. 

6. Oluic filed a claim with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) 

alleging, violations of the ADA.  Oluic received a right to sue letter related to that claim that was 

dated October 8, 2020.  Therefore, Oluic properly exhausted his administrative remedies. 
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

7. Prior to Oluic’s employment at Lakeland, he served honorably in the United States 

Army, being stationed in a number of locations abroad, including Iraq, Bosnia, Korea, and 

Germany.  Among other duties, his service included an associate professor and then assistant 

dean position at the U. S. Military Academy, West Point, New York. 

8. Oluic ultimately retired from the U. S. Army with an honorable discharge in 2010.  He 

retired after 27 years of active duty at the rank of Lieutenant Colonel. 

9. Lakeland hired Oluic on or around October 4, 2010, as a Dean in the Department of 

Social Sciences and Public Service Technologies.  He also taught some classes at Lakeland. 

10. The individual with the most influence on the decision to hire Oluic was Provost Jay Lee, 

Ph.D.  Dr. Lee left Lakeland shortly after hiring Oluic. 

11. During Oluic’s employment with Lakeland, he was excellent in the performance of his 

duties.  He received only 2 performance evaluations during his employment with Lakeland, in 

2011 and 2013.  Both of those were excellent. Oluic was supposed to receive annual 

evaluations, though he only received these 2.  

12. In fact, Oluic never received any negative written performance or formal disciplinary 

documents and was continually promoted to levels of greater responsibility until he was 

terminated on January 5, 2018, which was effective June 30, 2018. 

13. Upon his hire, Oluic completed an employment application.  While completing this, 

Oluic verbally indicated to the Lakeland human resource representative that he could not 

answer the question asking whether he had a disability because he was waiting on 

documentation from the Veterans Administration regarding his disability status. He indicated 
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that though he had been diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder (“PTSD”) by a medical 

professional as a result of his service in a war zone, he did not have paperwork regarding that 

diagnosis with him when he filled-out the employment application for Lakeland.   

14. The human resources representative indicated that it would be acceptable for Oluic to 

leave the question on the application regarding disabilities blank. 

15. Oluic’s PTSD substantially limited some of his major life functions, which included 

working. 

16. Oluic’s employment went well and largely without incident until the summer of 2015, 

when the President of the University, Dr. Morris Beverage (“Beverage”) made the decision to 

move Oluic’s office.   

17. Prior to that time, Oluic’s office was located in two locations, one on the 3rd floor of the 

building and one on the 2nd floor. 

18. These offices were suitable to Oluic and generally accommodated his PTSD because they 

generally provided for a quiet atmosphere. 

19. In the summer of 2015, Beverage wished to move Oluic’s office to the 1st floor of the 

same building, which is an area noisy and full of distraction. There is a lot of foot-traffic on that 

floor, no controlled access to what would be Oluic’s office, and it is immediately adjacent to a 

parking lot where cars would come and go.  The car doors slamming and the practically daily car 

alarm sounds would severely aggravate and trigger Oluic’s PTSD. 

20.  Before Oluic’s office was moved to the 1st floor, Oluic reported to Beverage that he had 

PTSD and that the move would severely aggravate his PTSD because of the noisy and distracting 

atmosphere.  That report occurred the week of August 24, 2015. 
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21. Oluic requested to remain in his then current 3rd floor office.  

22. Beverage responded by indicating that he would consider the request (though he never 

made any effort to change the location of Oluic’s office back to one of its previous locations, 

which would have generally accommodated his PTSD). 

23. Also, in or around late August of 2015, Oluic spoke to Cathy Bush (“Bush”), who was the 

acting director of human resources at Lakeland at that time.  Oluic reiterated to her that the 

proposed new office location would not accommodate his PTSD.   

24. Bush responded by indicating that Lakeland would not move Oluic’s office.  

25. During the week of September 7 of 2015, Oluic requested the accommodation of 4 days 

off because his PTSD was severely agitated at that time, which Lakeland granted. 

26. During this time off, Oluic was evaluated by a psychiatrist for his PTSD.  The psychiatrist 

authored a document dated September 9, 2015, in which she relayed her diagnosis and 

treatment of Oluic’s PTSD and that he required special accommodation, and that she could be 

contacted to discuss those accommodations.  Oluic submitted this letter to Lakeland when he 

returned to work. 

27. During the week of September 14, 2015, Oluic was transferred to the new office on the 

1st floor of the building. 

28. During the week of September 28, 2015, Lakeland installed a bronzer film on the 

windows that faced the adjacent parking lot to Oluic’s office as an attempt at an 

accommodation.  Oluic was hopeful that this would help by decreasing noise and other 

distraction, but it was ultimately not sufficient in accommodating his PTSD.  Lakeland still 

refused to move Oluic’s office back to the previous locations which accommodated his PTSD.   
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29. Oluic also suggested the accommodation that his office be moved to a different office, 

B-1061, of the 1st floor of that same building where there was less foot traffic access and was 

not adjacent to a parking lot because he believed it may accommodate his PTSD.   

30. Lakeland denied this request without any sufficient business justification.  In fact, 

Lakeland never indicated that accommodating any of Oluic’s requests for an office transfer 

would constitute an undue hardship on Lakeland. 

31. During the fall of 2015, when classes began, the foot-traffic access to Oluic’s new office 

on the 1st floor increased and severely agitated his PTSD.  Oluic began increased PTSD therapy 

with a psychotherapist and was placed on additional medication for that disabling condition. 

32. During the week of December 7, 2015, Oluic yet again reached out to Beverage about an 

office relocation.  Bush responded that Lakeland would re-evaluate the office situation, but 

nothing was done to accommodate Oluic. 

33. During the week of January 2016, Oluic spoke with Lakeland officials about changes to 

the location of his door in his office that might help limit distraction and accommodate his 

PTSD.  Lakeland refused to make any changes to Oluic’s office’s door without any indication 

that such would constitute an undue hardship, nor did Lakeland provide a non-pretextual 

business reason for its failure to make this accommodation. 

34. Oluic’s psychiatrist, once again, authored a document dated January 31, 2016, to 

Lakeland clearly stating that Oluic’s disability was not being accommodated. 

35. In May of 2016, construction began outside Oluic’s office, further contributing and 

exacerbating the agitation of his PTSD.  Lakeland still refused to move Oluic to a permanent 
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new office to accommodate his PTSD, again failing to cite an undue hardship or non-pretextual 

business justification for this failure to accommodate. 

36. Also during the summer of 2016, Oluic was forced to use as much sick time as he 

possibly could because of the severe agitation of his PTSD. 

37. Also during this time, it became apparent that Beverage, Bush, and other administrators 

were becoming hostile towards Plaintiff.  Though they masked their informal complaints as 

business-related, they were clearly pretextual and in retaliation and for Oluic requesting 

accommodations for his PTSD. 

38. During the week of September 6, 2016, Oluic exchanged emails with Bush regarding 

Oluic’s belief that it seemed as if Lakeland was actively trying to force Oluic out of his position 

because of Lakeland’s failure to accommodate his disability.  Simply moving Oluic’s office back 

to one of his original locations that did not severely agitate his PTSD, or to another part of the 

1st floor would have been sufficient, but Lakeland again refused to do so without citing an 

undue hardship or non-pretextual business justification for such refusal.  

39. In May of 2017, Oluic received Lakeland’s distinguished service award. 

40. Despite having been promoted several times and receiving this award, he was 

terminated on or around January 5, 2018.  

41. On that date, Oluic met with Beverage, Bush, and Provost Laura Barnard. 

42. During that meeting, Oluic was presented with the option of either being terminated 

immediately or working from home in a different job position until June 30, 2018, at which time 

he would be forced to resign.  The Lakeland officials suggested that he choose the latter option 

in an effort to keep a termination letter out of his permanent personnel file. 
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43. Oluic was not given a reason for this employment decision. 

44. Oluic went home after this meeting and was told not to return to campus on January 6, 

2018, while he made his decision. 

45. On January 6, 2018, Oluic submitted a letter indicating that he was indeed choosing the 

latter option – to work at home in a different job position until June 30, 2018, at which point he 

would resign.  However, this was not really a choice as he was being forced to separate 

employment either way. 

46. This constituted a constructive discharge. 

47. After Oluic made this decision, Bush notified him that he would be docked vacation days 

during the time that he was working from home until those days were exhausted.  Oluic was 

not notified of this prior to submitting the January 6, 2018, letter. 

48. Lakeland has claimed in its submissions to the EEOC regarding this situation that it 

presented Oluic with the option of either being put on a performance improvement plan or 

resigning, but the option given to Oluic was in fact to resign or be terminated (as described 

above). 

49. The EEOC ultimately found probable cause that disability discrimination occurred prior 

to Oluic receiving a right-to-sue letter and filing this lawsuit. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST LAKELAND 
(Failure to Accommodate under the ADA) 

50. Oluic incorporates and restates each of the above paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein.  

51. Oluic, at all times relevant, is a disabled individual as defined in 42 U.S.C §12101, et 

seq., had a history of said disability, and was regarded as such by his employer. 
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52. Oluic requested a reasonable accommodation for his disability as described above, and 

Lakeland failed to properly engage in the interactive process, resulting in Lakeland’s 

discriminatory termination of Oluic.  

53. Oluic’s requests for reasonable accommodations would not impose an undue hardship 

on Lakeland. 

54. Lakeland knew that Oluic would be able to perform the essential job functions of his 

position if he were granted a reasonable accommodation for his disability. 

55. Lakeland’s conduct as alleged above constitutes discrimination for failure to 

accommodate under the ADA.  

56. The reasons stated by Lakeland for its conduct were not the true reasons, but instead 

were pretext for discrimination.   

57. Lakeland violated the ADA, 42 U.S.C. §12112(a) and (b)(5)(A). 

58. Oluic is entitled to a remedy under the ADA. 

59. Lakeland engaged in the above-described actions recklessly, maliciously, and 

intentionally, entitling Oluic to all damages available under the law. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST LAKELAND  
(Failure to Accommodate under the OCRA) 

60. Oluic incorporates and restates each of the above paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein.  

61. Oluic, at all times relevant, is a disabled individual as defined in the OCRA, R.C. 4112, et 

seq., had a history of said disability, and was regarded as such by his employer. 
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62. Oluic requested a reasonable accommodation for his disability as described above, and 

Lakeland failed to properly engage in the interactive process, resulting in Lakeland’s 

discriminatory termination of Oluic.  

63. Oluic’s requests for reasonable accommodations would not impose an undue hardship 

on Lakeland. 

64. Lakeland knew that Oluic would be able to perform the essential job functions of his 

position if he were granted a reasonable accommodation for his disability. 

65. Lakeland’s conduct as alleged above constitutes discrimination for failure to 

accommodate under the OCRA.  

66. The reasons stated by Lakeland for its conduct were not the true reasons, but instead 

were pretext for discrimination. 

67. Lakeland violated the OCRA, R.C. §4112.02 et seq. by undergoing disability 

discrimination against Oluic. 

68. Oluic is entitled to a remedy under R.C §4112.99. 

69. Lakeland engaged in the above-described actions recklessly, maliciously, and 

intentionally, entitling Oluic to all damages available under the law. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST LAKELAND 
(Retaliation for Engaging in Protected Activity under the ADA) 

70. Oluic incorporates and restates each of the above paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein.  

71. Oluic, at all times relevant, is a disabled individual as defined in 42 U.S.C §12101, et 

seq., had a history of said disability, and was regarded as such by her employer. 
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72. Oluic requested a reasonable accommodation for his disability as described above, and 

Lakeland responded by intimidating him, harassing him, and ultimately terminating him. 

73. Lakeland’s conduct as alleged above constitutes retaliation against Lakeland because 

Oluic engaged in activities protected by the ADA, causing Lakeland to take materially adverse 

employment actions against Oluic. The reasons stated by Lakeland for its conduct were not 

the true reasons, but instead were pretext for discrimination. 

74. Lakeland violated the ADA, 42 U.S.C. §12203 (a) and (b) by retaliating against Oluic for 

engaging in the protected activity of requesting a reasonable accommodation for his 

disability.  

75. Oluic is entitled to a remedy under 42 U.S.C. §12203 (c). 

76. Lakeland engaged in the above-described actions recklessly, maliciously, and 

intentionally, entitling Oluic to an award of statutory, compensatory, and other damages. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST LAKELAND 
(Retaliation for Engaging in Protected Activity under the OCRA) 

77. Oluic incorporates and restates each of the above paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein.  

78. Oluic, at all times relevant, is a disabled individual as defined in R.C. 4112.02, et seq., 

had a history of said disability, and was regarded as such by her employer. 

79. Oluic requested a reasonable accommodation for his disability as described above, and 

Lakeland responded by intimidating him, harassing him, and ultimately terminating him. 

80. Lakeland’s conduct as alleged above constitutes retaliation against Lakeland because 

Oluic engaged in activities protected by the OCRA, causing Lakeland to take materially adverse 
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employment actions against Oluic. The reasons stated by Lakeland for its conduct were not 

the true reasons, but instead were pretext for discrimination. 

81. Lakeland violated the OCRA, §4112.02 et. seq.) by retaliating against Oluic for engaging 

in the protected activity of requesting a reasonable accommodation for his disability.  

82. Oluic is entitled to a remedy under R.C. §4112.99 

83. Lakeland engaged in the above-described actions recklessly, maliciously, and 

intentionally, entitling Oluic to an award of statutory, compensatory, and other damages. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Oluic prays that this court grant him the following relief: 

A. Order Lakeland to make Oluic whole by providing compensation for violations of his 

civil rights, including but not limited to economic, compensatory, and emotional 

distress, in an amount to be determined at trial and in excess of $75,000; 

B. Award Oluic back pay, front pay, and reimbursement for lost wages;  

C. Award Oluic pre-and post-judgment interest at the statutory rate;  

D. Award attorneys’ fees and costs against the Lakeland as allowed under law; and 

E. Award additional relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

      _/s/ Shawn A. Romer 
      Shawn A. Romer (0084251) 
      sromer@romerlawfirm.com 
      Romer Law Firm, LLC 
      2012 W. 25th St., Ste. 716 
      Cleveland, OH 44113 
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      Ph: 216-644-3722 
      Fx: 216-803-6674 
      Attorney for Plaintiff 
 

 
JURY DEMAND 

 
 Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 
 

/s/ Shawn Romer_____________ 
      Shawn A. Romer (0084251) 
      Attorney for Plaintiff 
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